

# **MINUTES**

# **DEVELOPMENT DETERMINATION PANEL MEETING**

held via teleconference on

**WEDNESDAY 23 AUGUST 2023** 



# Minutes of a meeting of the Development Determination Panel held on Wednesday 23 August 2023 via teleconference

The public meeting commenced at 10.00am and concluded at 1:10pm

The minutes were determined on 5 September 2023



# 1.0 APOLOGIES AND DECLARATIONS INTEREST

Nil

# 2.0 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

# 2.1 MINUTES OF DEVELOPMENT DETERMINATION PANEL HELD 31 AUGUST 2023

The minutes of the Development Determination Panel held 31 August 2023, were adopted by all Panel Members and have been posted on the Council's website.



# 3.0 DEVELOPMENT DETERMINATION PANEL REPORTS

# 3.1 REV2023/0015 - 175 FOREST WAY BELROSE - EARTHWORKS AND CONSTRUCTION OF A RETAINING WALL

#### **PANEL MEMBERS**

Peter Robinson Executive Manager, Development Assessment Jordan Davies Acting Manager, Development Assessment Neil Cocks Manager, Strategic & Place Planning

#### **PROCEEDINGS IN BRIEF**

Panel members visited the site and surrounds.

The Panel was addressed by one objector and representative of the applicant.

## **DETERMINATION OF REVIEW APPLICATION**

THAT Council as the consent authority, **defers determination** of Application No. REV2023/0015 for earthworks and construction of a retaining wall at Lot 11 DP 737255, 175 Forest Way BELROSE, for the following reason:

Deliberations are delayed to provide the Panel additional time to consider the application.

Vote: 3/0



# 3.2 DA2022/1868 - 144 QUEENSCLIFF ROAD QUEENSCLIFF - DEMOLITION WORKS AND CONSTRUCTION OF A DWELLING HOUSE INCLUDING SWIMMING POOL

#### PANEL MEMBERS

Peter Robinson Executive Manager, Development Assessment

Steve Findlay Manager, Development Assessment Neil Cocks Manager, Strategic & Place Planning

#### PROCEEDINGS IN BRIEF

Panel members visited the site and surrounds.

The Panel was addressed by representatives of the applicant.

The Panel concurred with the Officer's Assessment Report and recommendation

#### STATEMENT OF REASON

The proposal generally satisfies the relevant strategy, objectives and provisions of Warringah LEP 2011 and the Warringah DCP 2011 subject to conditions.

#### **COMMUNITY CONSULTATION**

Issues raised in the submissions have been taken into account in the report and the meeting.

#### **DECISION ON EXCEPTIONS TO DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS**

- A. The Panel is satisfied that:
  - the applicant's written request under clause 4.6 of the Warringah LEP 2011 seeking to justify a contravention of clause 4.3 Height of Buildings development standard has adequately addressed and demonstrated that:
    - compliance with the standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case; and
    - b) there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention.
  - 2) the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the standard and the objectives for development within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out.
- B. The Panel assumes the concurrence of the Secretary, Department Planning and Environment required under clause 4.6.

# **DETERMINATION OF DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION**

THAT Council as the consent authority, **approves** Application No. DA2022/1868 for demolition works and construction of a dwelling house including swimming pool at Lot C DP 387170, 144 Queenscliff Road QUEENSCLIFF, subject to the conditions set out in the Assessment Report.

Vote: 3/0



# 3.3 MOD2023/0085 - 15 OYAMA AVENUE MANLY - MODIFICATION OF DEVELOPMENT CONSENT DA2020/1372 GRANTED FOR ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS TO A DWELLING HOUSE

#### **PANEL MEMBERS**

Peter Robinson Executive Manager, Development Assessment

Steve Findlay Manager, Development Assessment

Jordan Davies Acting Manager, Development Assessment

# **PROCEEDINGS IN BRIEF**

Panel members visited the site and surrounds.

The Panel was addressed by representatives of the applicant.

The Panel also received a further submission by the applicant dated 20 August 2023 in response to the assessment report.

The Panel concurred with the Officer's Assessment Report and recommendation with the exception of the recommended retention of condition 9 (a) which given the more accurate detail as a result of the complete building works (and an erected height pole) and likely impact from the proposed parapet wall the Panel were satisfied that view sharing is maintained by the proposal and condition 9 (a) can be removed from the recommendation.

#### STATEMENT OF REASON

The proposal generally satisfies the relevant strategy, objectives and provisions of Manly LEP 2013 and the Manly DCP 2013 and the principals of view sharing.

# **COMMUNITY CONSULTATION**

Issues raised in the submissions have been taken into account in the report and the meeting.

# **DETERMINATION OF MODIFICATION APPLICATION**

THAT Council as the consent authority, **approves** Modification Application No. Mod2023/0085 for modification of Development Consent DA2020/1372 granted for alterations and additions to a dwelling house at Lot 1 & 2 DP 1087597, 15 Oyama Avenue MANLY, subject to the conditions set out in the Assessment Report, with the following changes:

1. The amendment of condition 9 to read as follows:

## 9. Amendments to the approved plans

The approved plans are to be amended as follows:

- a) The height of the front fence is to be a maximum height of 1800mm above ground level at the front boundary.
- b) Solar panels are to be removed from the approved plans. Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Certifying Authority prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate.

Reason: Maintain streetscape and views to surrounding properties

Vote: 3/0 Page 6 of 28



# 3.4 DA2023/0542 - 11 WYADRA AVENUE FRESHWATER - DEMOLITION WORKS AND CONSTRUCTION OF A DWELLING HOUSE INCLUDING GARAGE, AND SECONDARY DWELLING

#### PANEL MEMBERS

Steve Findlay Manager, Development Assessment

Jordan Davies Acting Manager, Development Assessment Neil Cocks Manager, Strategic & Place Planning

#### PROCEEDINGS IN BRIEF

Panel members visited the site and surrounds.

The Panel was addressed by representatives of the applicant.

The Panel concurred with the officer's Assessment Report and recommendation.

#### STATEMENT OF REASON

The proposal generally satisfies the relevant strategy, objectives and provisions of Warringah LEP 2011 and the Warringah DCP 2011 subject to conditions as set out in the assessment report.

#### **COMMUNITY CONSULTATION**

Issues raised in the submissions have been taken into account in the report and the meeting.

#### **DETERMINATION OF DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION**

THAT Council as the consent authority, **approves** Application No. DA2023/0542 for demolition works and construction of a dwelling house including garage, and secondary dwelling at Lot 32 DP 14366, 11 Wyadra Avenue FRESHWATER, subject to the conditions set out in the Assessment Report.

Vote: 3/0



# 3.5 DA2022/1944 - 30 & 32 LAKEVIEW PARADE, WARRIEWOOD - DEMOLITION WORK, TREE REMOVAL AND SUBDIVISION OF TWO LOTS INTO FIVE LOTS

#### PANEL MEMBERS

Steve Findlay Manager, Development Assessment
Jordan Davies Acting Manager, Development Assessment
Liza Cordoba Manager, Strategic & Place Planning

#### PROCEEDINGS IN BRIEF

This matter was deferred from the DDP meeting on 9 August 2023 due to a late submission by the Applicant, which required a formal response from the external consultant planner before the panel could consider and determine the application.

The Panel members visited the site and surrounds.

The Panel was addressed by representatives of the applicant, the owner and the objectors.

The Panel did not concur with the external planning consultants Assessment Report and recommendation for refusal.

The Panel were provided with two (2) Supplementary Memos, one prepared by the external planning consultant addressing issues with the assessment report raised by the applicant, and one by the Manager Development Assessment addressing the provision of a passing bay.

It is noted that the proposed lots comply with the minimum lot size standard under the PLEP 2014 and that there are variations to the minimum width of lot requirements under the P21DCP.

Notwithstanding the non-compliances with the minimum lot width control, the applicant has demonstrated, through the submission of indicative dwelling designs for each lot, that the lots can be developed in accordance with the built form controls under the P21DCP.

The Panel reviewed the proposed subdivision having regard to the subdivision character in the surrounding area, and the applicant presented a detailed analysis identifying under-width lots in the area, including more recent subdivision approvals. The Panel are satisfied that the subdivision is consistent with the prevailing pattern and configuration of lots.

The Panel were satisfied that the level of tree removal is satisfactory and that those more significant trees will be retained on Lots 2 and 4. Further, it is noted that Council's Landscape Officer supports the level of tree removal. However, to ensure that these lots will provide for such retention under future DA's for a dwelling-house and ancillary structures, it is appropriate to impose a restriction on these lots which will "lock-in" a building platform in accordance with the indicative dwelling designs.

As outlined in the memorandum dated 22 August 2023, Council's development engineers and landscape officer are accepting of a single passing pay in the vicinity of Lot 2. This allows deletion of the second passing bay at the frontage of Lot 1 and allows the retention of the street tree by adopting a 3m wide driveway crossover. The panel can deal with this as a condition of consent.

Finally, the Panel heard submissions from a planning consultant on behalf of residents to the east of the subject site who are concerned that future access to Lots 3 and 4 will be obtained from the right of carriageway currently servicing No.s 38 to 48 Lakeview Parade. A special condition will be imposed requiring all vehicular and pedestrian access to be from the new right of way servicing Lots 2 to 5 in the approved subdivision, including construction traffic.



#### **DECLARATION**

Liza Cordoba wished to record that she has previously worked with Anna Williams (Blackwattle Planning (representing several objectors)), Rebecca Englund (Northern Beaches Planning (representing the applicant and author of the SEE)) and Kimberley Kavwenje (Creative Planning Solutions (external consultant commissioned to assess the application)) at formerly Pittwater Council and Northern Beaches Council.)

Steven Findlay also wished to record that he worked with Anna Williams and Rebecca Englund at Northern Beaches Council.

Jordan Davies also wished to record that he worked with Anna Williams and Rebecca Englund at Northern Beaches Council.

Neither of these declarations constitute a conflict in this matter.

#### STATEMENT OF REASON

The proposal generally satisfies the relevant strategy, objectives and provisions of Pittwater LEP 2014 and the Pittwater 21 DCP subject to conditions as set out below in the determination of the application.

## **COMMUNITY CONSULTATION**

Issues raised in the submissions have been taken into account in the report, in the panel meeting and the proceedings above.

## **DETERMINATION OF DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION**

THAT Council as the consent authority, **approves** Development Application No. DA2022/1944 for demolition work, tree removal and subdivision of two lots into five lots at Lot A & Lot B DP 357717, 30 & 32 Lakeview Parade, WARRIEWOOD, subject to the following conditions:

# **GENERAL CONDITIONS**

# 1. Approved Plans and Supporting Documentation

Development must be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans (stamped by Council) and supporting documentation, except where the conditions of this consent expressly require otherwise.

Approved Plans							
Plan Number	Revision Number	Plan Title	Drawn By	Date of Plan			
Sheet 1 of 1		Plan Of Subdivision of Lot A & B in DP357717	SDG Pty Limited	28 March 2023			

#### MINUTES OF DEVELOPMENT DETERMINATION PANEL MEETING

#### 23 AUGUST 2023

H01	А	Stormwater Management Plan Part 1	Peninsula Consulting	29 March 2023
H02	A	Stormwater Management Plan Part 2	Peninsula Consulting	29 March 2023
H03	А	Stormwater Management Details Sheet 1	Peninsula Consulting	29 March 2023
H04	A	Stormwater Management Details Sheet 2	Peninsula Consulting	29 March 2023

<b>Approved Reports and Docume</b>			
Document Title	Version Number	Prepared By	Date of Document
Aboricultural Impact Assessment	-	Hugh The Arborist	29 March 2023
Hydraulic Design Certificate	23-0304	Peninsula Consulting	28 March 2023
Water Sensitive Urban Design Report	P171063- LT- SW- 100-0	Stellen Civil Engineering	12 May 2023

In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans, reports and documentation, the approved plans prevail.

In the event of any inconsistency with the approved plans and a condition of this consent, the condition prevails.

Reason: To ensure all parties are aware of the approved plans and supporting documentation that applies to the development.

# 2. Compliance with Other Department, Authority or Service Requirements

The development must be carried out in compliance with all recommendations and requirements, excluding general advice, within the following:

Other Department, Authority or Service	EDMS Reference	Dated
Ausgrid	Ausgrid Referral Response	28 November 2022

(NOTE: For a copy of the above referenced document/s, please see Application Tracking on Council's website <a href="https://www.northernbeaches.nsw.gov.au">www.northernbeaches.nsw.gov.au</a>)

Reason: To ensure the work is carried out in accordance with the determination and the statutory requirements of other departments, authorities or bodies.



### 3. Prescribed Conditions

- (a) All building works must be carried out in accordance with the requirements of the Building Code of Australia (BCA).
- (b) BASIX affected development must comply with the schedule of BASIX commitments specified within the submitted BASIX Certificate (demonstrated compliance upon plans/specifications is required prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate);
- (c) A sign must be erected in a prominent position on any site on which building work, subdivision work or demolition work is being carried out:
  - (i) showing the name, address and telephone number of the Principal Certifier for the work, and
  - (ii) showing the name of the principal contractor (if any) for any building work and a telephone number on which that person may be contacted outside working hours, and
  - (iii) stating that unauthorised entry to the work site is prohibited.

Any such sign is to be maintained while the building work, subdivision work or demolition work is being carried out, but must be removed when the work has been completed.

- (d) Residential building work within the meaning of the Home Building Act 1989 must not be carried out unless the Principal Certifier for the development to which the work relates (not being the Council) has given the Council written notice of the following information:
  - (i) in the case of work for which a principal contractor is required to be appointed:
    - A. the name and licence number of the principal contractor, and
    - B. the name of the insurer by which the work is insured under Part 6 of that Act.
  - (ii) in the case of work to be done by an owner-builder:
    - A. the name of the owner-builder, and
    - B. if the owner-builder is required to hold an owner-builder permit under that Act, the number of the owner-builder permit.

If arrangements for doing the residential building work are changed while the work is in progress so that the information notified under becomes out of date, further work must not be carried out unless the Principal Certifier for the development to which the work relates (not being the Council) has given the Council written notice of the updated information.

- (e) Development that involves an excavation that extends below the level of the base of the footings of a building on adjoining land, the person having the benefit of the development consent must, at the person's own expense:
  - (i) protect and support the adjoining premises from possible damage from the excavation, and
  - (ii) where necessary, underpin the adjoining premises to prevent any such damage.
  - (iii) must, at least 7 days before excavating below the level of the base of the footings of a building on an adjoining allotment of land, give notice of intention to do so to the owner of the adjoining allotment of land and furnish particulars of the excavation to the owner of the building being erected or demolished.
  - (iv) the owner of the adjoining allotment of land is not liable for any part of



the cost of work carried out for the purposes of this clause, whether carried out on the allotment of land being excavated or on the adjoining allotment of land.

In this clause, allotment of land includes a public road and any other public place.

Reason: Legislative requirement.

# 4. General Requirements

- (a) Unless authorised by Council:
   Building construction and delivery of material hours are restricted to:
  - 7.00 am to 5.00 pm inclusive Monday to Friday,
  - 8.00 am to 1.00 pm inclusive on
  - Saturday, No work on Sundays and Public Holidays.

Demolition and excavation works are restricted to:

- 8.00 am to 5.00 pm Monday to Friday only.
- (Excavation work includes the use of any excavation machinery and the use of jackhammers, rock breakers, excavators, loaders and the like, regardless of whether the activities disturb or alter the natural state of the existing ground stratum or are breaking up/removing materials from the site).
- (b) Should any asbestos be uncovered on site, its demolition and removal must be carried out in accordance with WorkCover requirements and the relevant Australian Standards.
- (c) At all times after the submission the Notice of Commencement to Council, a copy of the Development Consent and Construction Certificate is to remain onsite at all times until the issue of an Occupation Certificate. The consent shall be available for perusal of any Authorised Officer.
- (d) Where demolition works have been completed and new construction works have not commenced within 4 weeks of the completion of the demolition works that area affected by the demolition works shall be fully stabilised and the site must be maintained in a safe and clean state until such time as new construction works commence.
- (e) Onsite toilet facilities (being either connected to the sewer or an accredited sewer management facility) for workers are to be provided for construction sites at a rate of 1 per 20 persons.
- (f) Prior to the release of the Construction Certificate, payment of the Long Service Levy is required. This payment can be made at Council or to the Long Services Payments Corporation. Payment is not required where the value of the works is less than
  - \$250,000. The Long Service Levy is calculated on 0.25% of the building and construction work. The levy rate and level in which it applies is subject to legislative change. The applicable fee at the time of payment of the Long Service Levy will apply.
- (g) The applicant shall bear the cost of all works associated with the development that occurs on Council's property.



- (h) No skip bins, building materials, demolition or excavation waste of any nature, and no hoist, plant or machinery (crane, concrete pump or lift) shall be placed on Council's footpaths, roadways, parks or grass verges without Council Approval.
- (i) Demolition materials and builders' wastes are to be removed to approved waste/recycling centres.
- (j) No trees or native shrubs or understorey vegetation on public property (footpaths, roads, reserves, etc.), on the land to be developed, or within adjoining properties, shall be removed or damaged during excavation or construction unless specifically approved in this consent including for the erection of any fences, hoardings or other temporary works.
- (k) Prior to the commencement of any development onsite for:
  - i) Building/s that are to be erected
  - ii) Building/s that are situated in the immediate vicinity of a public place and is dangerous to persons or property on or in the public place
  - iii) Building/s that are to be demolished
  - iv) For any work/s that is to be carried out
  - v) For any work/s that is to be demolished

The person responsible for the development site is to erect or install on or around the development area such temporary structures or appliances (wholly within the development site) as are necessary to protect persons or property and to prevent unauthorised access to the site in order for the land or premises to be maintained in a safe or healthy condition. Upon completion of the development, such temporary structures or appliances are to be removed within 7 days.

- (I) A "Road Opening Permit" must be obtained from Council, and all appropriate charges paid, prior to commencement of any work on Council property. The owner/applicant shall be responsible for all public utilities and services in the area of the work, shall notify all relevant Authorities, and bear all costs associated with any repairs and/or adjustments as those Authorities may deem necessary.
- (m) The works must comply with the relevant Ausgrid Network Standards and SafeWork NSW Codes of Practice.
- (n) Requirements for new swimming pools/spas or existing swimming pools/spas affected by building works.
  - Child resistant fencing is to be provided to any swimming pool or lockable cover to any spa containing water and is to be consistent with the following;

Relevant legislative requirements and relevant Australian Standards (including but not limited) to:

- (i) Swimming Pools Act 1992
- (ii) Swimming Pools Amendment Act 2009
- (iii) Swimming Pools Regulation 2018
- (iv) Australian Standard AS1926 Swimming Pool Safety
- (v) Australian Standard AS1926.1 Part 1: Safety barriers for swimming pools
- (vi) Australian Standard AS1926.2 Part 2: Location of safety barriers for swimming pools.

#### MINUTES OF DEVELOPMENT DETERMINATION PANEL MEETING

23 AUGUST 2023



- (2) A 'KEEP WATCH' pool safety and aquatic based emergency sign, issued by Royal Life Saving is to be displayed in a prominent position within the pool/spa area.
- (3) Filter backwash waters shall be conveyed to the Sydney Water sewerage system in sewered areas or managed on-site in unsewered areas in a manner that does not cause pollution, erosion or run off, is separate from the irrigation area for any wastewater system and is separate from any onsite stormwater management system.
- (4) Swimming pools and spas must be registered with the Division of Local Government.

Reason: To ensure that works do not interfere with reasonable amenity expectations of residents and the community.

# **FEES / CHARGES / CONTRIBUTIONS**

# 5. Policy Controls

Northern Beaches Section 7.12 Contributions Plan 2022

A monetary contribution of \$4,408.44 is payable to Northern Beaches Council for the provision of local infrastructure and services pursuant to section 7.12 of the Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979 and the Northern Beaches Section 7.12 Contributions Plan (as amended).

The monetary contribution is based on a development cost of \$440,844.21.

The total amount payable will be adjusted at the time the payment is made, in accordance with the provisions of the Northern Beaches Section 7.12 Contributions Plan (as amended).

Details demonstrating compliance, by way of written receipts issued by Council, are to be submitted to the Certifier prior to issue of any Construction Certificate/Subdivision Works Certificate or, if relevant, the Subdivision Certificate (whichever occurs first).

A copy of the Contributions Plan is available for inspection at 725 Pittwater Road, Dee Why or on Council's website at Northern Beaches Council - Development Contributions.

Reason: To provide for contributions in accordance with the Contribution Plan to fund the provision of new or augmented local infrastructure and services.

## 6. Security Bond

A bond (determined from cost of works) of \$2,000 and an inspection fee in accordance with Council's Fees and Charges paid as security are required to ensure the rectification of any damage that may occur to the Council infrastructure contained within the road reserve adjoining the site as a result of construction or the transportation of materials and equipment to and from the development site.

An inspection fee in accordance with Council adopted fees and charges (at the time of payment) is payable for each kerb inspection as determined by Council (minimum (1) one inspection).

All bonds and fees shall be deposited with Council prior to Construction Certificate or demolition work commencing, and details demonstrating payment are to be submitted to the Certifier prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate.



To process the inspection fee and bond payment a Bond Lodgement Form must be completed with the payments (a copy of the form is attached to this consent and alternatively a copy is located on Council's website at www.northernbeaches.nsw.gov.au).

Reason: To ensure adequate protection of Council's infrastructure.

# 7. Construction, Excavation and Associated Works Bond (Drainage works)

The applicant is to lodge a bond of \$20,000 as security against any damage or failure to complete the construction of stormwater drainage works in the road reserve as part of his consent.

Details confirming payment of the bond are to be submitted to the Certifier prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate.

Reason: Protection of Council's infrastructure.

8. Construction, Excavation and Associated Works Bond (Maintenance for civil works)
The developer/applicant must lodge with Council a maintenance bond of \$5,000 for the
construction of stormwater drainage works in the road reserve. The maintenance bond will
only be refunded upon completion of the six month maintenance period, if work has been
completed in accordance with the approved plans and to the satisfaction of Council. The
maintenance bond is to be paid prior to Council issuing practical completion.

Reason: To ensure adequate protection of Council infrastructure.

# BUILDING WORK – BEFORE ISSUE OF A CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE

# 9. Installation and Maintenance of Sediment Control

Prior to any works commencing on site, including demolition, an erosion and sediment control plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified person in accordance with the following documents and provided to the Principal Certifier:

- 1. Council's relevant development control plan,
- 2. The guidelines set out in the NSW Department of Housing manual 'Managing Urban Stormwater: Soils and Construction Certificate' (the Blue Book) (as amended from time to time), and
- 3. The 'Do it Right On-Site, Soil and Water Management for the Construction Industry' (Southern Sydney Regional Organisation of Councils and the Natural Heritage Trust) (as amended from time to time).

Techniques used for erosion and sediment control on site are to be adequately maintained and monitored at all times, particularly after periods of rain, and shall remain in proper operation until all development activities have been completed and the site is sufficiently stabilised with vegetation.

Reason: To ensure no substance other than rainwater enters the stormwater system and waterways.

# 10. Compliance with Standards

The development is required to be carried out in accordance with all relevant Australian Standards.



Details demonstrating compliance with the relevant Australian Standard are to be submitted to the Certifier prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate.

Reason: To ensure the development is constructed in accordance with appropriate standards.

# 11. Sydney Water "Tap In"

The approved plans must be submitted to the Sydney Water Tap in service, prior to works commencing, to determine whether the development will affect any Sydney Water assets and/or easements. The appropriately stamped plans must then be submitted to the Certifier demonstrating the works are in compliance with Sydney Water requirements.

Please refer to the website www.sydneywater.com.au for:

"Tap in" details - see http://www.sydneywater.com.au/tapin Guidelines for Building Over/Adjacent to Sydney Water Assets.

Or telephone 13 000 TAP IN (1300 082 746).

Reason: To ensure compliance with the statutory requirements of Sydney Water.

# BEFORE ISSUE OF A SUBDIVISION WORKS CERTIFICATE

# 12. Amendment to Approved Plans

The following amendments are to be made to the approved subdivision plan and engineering plans:

- The passing bay at the frontage of Lot 1 is to be deleted from the plans and the right of carriageway shall have a width of 3.5m at the frontage of Lot 1.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Certifier prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate.

Reason: To require amendments to the plans endorsed by the consent authority following assessment of the development.

# 13. Subdivision Works Certificate

A Subdivision Works Certificate is to be approved by Certifier for the provision of engineering works.

Engineering plans for the subdivision works within this development consent are to be submitted to the Certifier for approval under Section 6.13 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

Civil Engineering plans for the subdivision works are to be designed in accordance with the Council's specification for engineering works – AUS-SPEC #1. The plans shall be prepared by a suitably qualified Civil Engineer, who has membership to Engineers Australia, National Engineers Register (NER) and registered in the General Area of Practice for civil engineering. The design must include the following information:

- 1. Driveway plan and long and cross sections with a minimum width of 3 metres between the kerbs.
- 2. Any retaining walls required to construct the driveway.
- 3. A passing bay generally in accordance with the plan submitted by Peninsula

#### MINUTES OF DEVELOPMENT DETERMINATION PANEL MEETING

23 AUGUST 2023



- Consulting Engineers, drawing number 22-0517 C03 Rev A dated 2/11/2022.
- 4. A 3.0 metre wide driveway crossing.
- 5. Inter-allotment drainage details including plans, long and cross sections for all proposed lots.
- 6. On-site stormwater detention (OSD) details in accordance with Council's Water Management for Development Policy and generally in accordance with the plans by Peninsula Consulting Engineers, drawing number 23-0304 H01, H02, H03 and H04 Revision A dated 29/03/2023.
- 7. Geotechnical report with recommendations for the proposed excavations for the detention tanks.
- 8. Stormwater quality improvement measures designed in accordance the recommendations of the report "Water Sensitive Urban Design for the proposed new development at 30-32 Lakeview Parade, Warriewood" by Stellen Consulting dated 12 May 2023 and AS/NZS 3500.3 :2021 and Northern Beaches Council Water Management for Development Policy.
- 9. Services plan for the provision of all service conduits for all lots. All services are to be located underground and clear of the OSD tanks.

The Subdivision Works Certificate must be supported by engineering plans, calculations, specification or any certification relied upon.

Reason: To ensure engineering works are constructed in accordance with relevant standards and Council's specifications.

# 14. Stormwater Drainage Application

The applicant is to provide a stormwater drainage application under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 to Council for approval. The submission is to include Civil Engineering plans for the design of the stormwater connection from the site into Council's stormwater drainage system in Lakeview Parade which is to be generally in accordance with the civil design approved with the Development Application and Council's specification for engineering works - AUS-SPEC #1. The form can be found on Council's website at www.northernbeaches.nsw.gov.au > Council Forms > Stormwater Drainage Application Form.

The fee associated with the assessment and approval of the application is to be in accordance with Council's Fees and Charges.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Works Certificate.

Reason: To ensure appropriate provision for disposal arising from the development.

# 15. **Utilities Services**

Prior to the issue of the Subdivision Works Certificate, the Applicant is to obtain the following:

- (a) A letter from the utility provider confirming that satisfactory arrangements have been made for the approved development have been made; and
- (b) Evidence that notification has been received from a utility authority that, requirements for the development can be provided.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Works Certificate.

Reason: To ensure that services have been provided as required by this Consent.



# 16. Vehicle Crossing Application

The Applicant is to submit an application for driveway levels with Council in accordance with Sections 138 and 139 of the Roads Act 1993.

The fee associated with the assessment and approval of the application is to be in accordance with Council's Fee and Charges.

An approval is to be submitted to the Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Works Certificate.

Reason: To facilitate suitable vehicular access to private property.

# 17. Traffic Management and Control

The Applicant is to submit an application for Traffic Management Plan to Council for approval prior to issue of the Subdivision Works Certificate. The Traffic Management Plan shall be prepared to RMS standards and accounts for condition 29 in this consent by an appropriately certified person

Reason: To ensure appropriate measures have been considered for site access, storage and the operation of the site during all phases of the construction process.

# CONDITIONS THAT MUST BE ADDRESSED PRIOR TO ANY COMMENCEMENT

## 18. Tree Removal Within the Property

This consent approves the removal of the following tree(s) within the property (as recommended in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment):

- i) Tree 15 (Betula), and tree 27 (Banksia),
  - ii) A qualified AQF Level 5 Arborist shall identify these trees on site and tag or mark prior to removal.

Exempt species listed in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment report, impacted by the subdivision works do not require Council consent and this are listed as: tree 10 and 12 (Bangalow Palm).

Reason: To enable authorised subdivision works.

#### **DURING BUILDING WORK**

# 19. **Project Arborist**

A Project Arborist with minimum AQF Level 5 in arboriculture shall be engaged to provide tree protection measures in accordance with Australian Standard 4970-2009 Protection of Trees on Development Sites, and the recommendations of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment.

The Project Arborist shall be in attendance and supervise all works as nominated in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment, and in particular:

- i) Tree sensitive construction for Tree 6 Banksia within the property,
- i) Tree sensitive construction for Tree 9 Callistemon, located within adjoining property.

Existing ground levels shall be maintained within the tree protection zone of trees to be retained, unless authorised by the Project Arborist.



All tree protection measures specified must:

- a) be in place before work commences on the site, and
- b) be maintained in good condition during the construction period, and
- c) remain in place for the duration of the construction works.

The Project Arborist shall provide certification to the Certifier that all recommendations listed for the protection of the existing tree(s) have been carried out satisfactorily to ensure no impact to the health of the tree(s). Photographic documentation of the condition of all trees to be retained shall be recorded, including at commencement, during the works and at completion.

#### Note:

- i) A separate permit or development consent may be required if the branches or roots of a protected tree on the site or on an adjoining site are required to be pruned or removed.
- ii) Any potential impact to trees as assessed by the Project Arborist will require redesign of any approved component to ensure existing trees upon the subject site and adjoining properties are preserved and shall be the subject of a modification application where applicable.

Reason: Tree protection.

# 20. Protection of Existing Street Trees

All existing street trees in the vicinity of the works shall be retained during all construction stages, and the street trees fronting the development site (identified as Tree 4, 7 and 8 in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment) shall be protected by tree protection fencing in accordance with Australian Standard 4687-2007 Temporary Fencing and Hoardings, and in accordance with Section 4 of Australian Standard 4970-2009 Protection of Trees on Development Sites. As a minimum the tree protection fencing for street tree(s) fronting the development site shall consist of standard 2.4m panel length to four sides, unless otherwise directed by an Arborist with minimum AQF Level 5 in arboriculture. All fencing shall be located to allow for unrestricted and safe pedestrian access upon the road verge.

All street trees within the road verge are protected under Northern Beaches Council development control plans, except where Council's written consent for removal has been obtained. The felling, lopping, topping, ringbarking, or removal of any tree(s) is prohibited. No excavated material, building material storage, site facilities, nor landscape materials are to be placed within the canopy dripline of street trees.

Reason: Street tree protection.

# 21. Tree and Vegetation Protection

- a) Existing trees and vegetation shall be retained and protected, including:
  - i) all trees and vegetation within the site not approved for removal,
  - ii) all trees and vegetation located on adjoining properties,
  - iii) all road reserve trees and vegetation.
- b) Tree protection shall be undertaken as follows:
  - i) tree protection shall be in accordance with Australian Standard 4970-2009 Protection of Trees on Development Sites, including the provision of temporary fencing to protect existing trees within 5 metres of development.
  - ii) existing ground levels shall be maintained within the tree protection zone of trees to be retained, unless authorised by an Arborist with minimum AQF Level 5 in



- arboriculture,
- removal of existing tree roots at or >25mm (Ø) diameter is not permitted without consultation with an Arborist with minimum AQF Level 5 in arboriculture,
- iv) no excavated material, building material storage, site facilities, nor landscape materials are to be placed within the canopy dripline of trees and other vegetation required to be retained,
- v) structures are to bridge tree roots at or >25mm (Ø) diameter unless directed by an Arborist with minimum AQF Level 5 in arboriculture on site,
- vi) excavation for stormwater lines and all other utility services is not permitted within the tree protection zone, without consultation with an Arborist with minimum AQF Level 5 in arboriculture including advice on root protection measures,
- vii) should either or all of v) or vi) occur during site establishment and construction works, an Arborist with minimum AQF Level 5 in arboriculture shall provide recommendations for tree protection measures. Details including photographic evidence of works undertaken shall be submitted by the Arborist to the Principal Certifier,
- viii) any temporary access to, or location of scaffolding within the tree protection zone of a protected tree or any other tree to be retained during the construction works is to be undertaken using the protection measures specified in sections 4.5.3 and 4.5.6 of Australian Standard 4970-2009 Protection of Trees on Development Sites,
- ix) tree pruning from within the site to enable approved works shall not exceed 10% of any tree canopy, and shall be in accordance with Australian Standard 4373-2007 Pruning of Amenity Trees, and should additional pruning be required an application to Council's Tree Services shall be submitted for approval or otherwise.

The Principal Certifier must ensure that:

c) The activities listed in section 4.2 of Australian Standard 4970-2009 Protection of Trees on Development Sites, do not occur within the tree protection zone of any tree, and any temporary access to, or location of scaffolding within the tree protection zone of a protected tree, or any other tree to be retained on the site during the construction, is undertaken using the protection measures specified in sections 4.5.3 and 4.5.6 of that standard.

Reason: Tree and vegetation protection.

#### 22. Road Reserve

The applicant shall ensure the public footways and roadways adjacent to the site are maintained in a safe condition at all times during the course of the work.

Reason: Public safety.

## 23. Installation and Maintenance of Sediment and Erosion Controls

Council proactively regulates construction sites for sediment management.

Sediment and erosion controls must be installed in accordance with Landcom's 'Managing Urban Stormwater: Soils and Construction' (2004) and the Erosion and Sediment Control Plan prior to commencement of any other works on site.

Erosion and sediment controls are to be adequately maintained and monitored at all times, particularly after periods of rain, and shall remain in proper operation until all development



activities have been completed and vegetation cover has been re-established across 70 percent of the site, and the remaining areas have been stabilised with ongoing measures such as jute mesh or matting.

Reason: Protection of the receiving environment.

# 24. Survey Certificate

A survey certificate prepared by a Registered Surveyor is to be provided demonstrating that the location of all works are consistent with the approved plans.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier when the external structure of the building is complete.

Reason: To demonstrate the proposal complies with the approved plans.

# 25. Civil Works Supervision

The Applicant shall ensure all civil works approved in the Subdivision Works Certificate approval are supervised by an appropriately qualified and practicing Civil Engineer.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier.

Reason: To ensure compliance of civil works with Council's specification for engineering works.

# 26. Notification of Inspections (infrastructure works to be handed over to Council)

Council's Development Engineer is to be given 48 hours notice when the works reach the following stages:

- (a) Installation of Silt and Sediment control devices
- (b) Prior to backfilling of pipelines
- (c) Prior to pouring of stormwater gully pits
- (d) Prior to pouring of kerb and gutter
- (e) Subgrade level / basecourse level / subbase
- (f) Sealing road pavement

NOTE: Any inspections carried out by Council do not imply Council approval or acceptance of the work, and do not relieve the developer/applicant from the requirement to provide an engineer's certification.

Reason: To ensure new Council infrastructure is constructed in accordance with Auspec 1 Council's design and specification standards.

## 27. Traffic Control During Road Works

Lighting, fencing, traffic control and advanced warning signs shall be provided for the protection of the works and for the safety and convenience of the public and others in accordance with RMS Traffic Control At Work Sites Manual

(http://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/business-industry/partners-suppliers/documents/technical-manuals/tcws-version-4/tcwsv4i2.pdf) and to the satisfaction of the Roads Authority. Traffic movement in both directions on public roads, and vehicular access to private properties is to be maintained at all times during the works

Reason: Public Safety.



# 28. Vehicle Crossings

The Applicant is to construct one vehicle crossing 3.0 metres wide in accordance with Northern Beaches Council Drawing Maximum High Profile and the driveway levels application approval. An Authorised Vehicle Crossing Contractor shall construct the vehicle crossing and associated works within the road reserve in plain concrete. All redundant laybacks and crossings are to be restored to footpath/grass. Prior to the pouring of concrete, the vehicle crossing is to be inspected by Council and a satisfactory "Vehicle Crossing Inspection" card issued.

A copy of the vehicle crossing inspection form is to be submitted to the Certifier.

Reason: To facilitate suitable vehicular access to private property.

# 29. No Access Across Adjoining Land

Unless written consent is provided by the adjoining properties, no access is to be obtained over adjoining private properties for the purpose of demolition or construction in connection with this development consent.

Reason: To limit access across private property and limit the impact of construction traffic.

# ON-GOING CONDITIONS THAT MUST BE COMPLIED WITH AT ALL TIMES

# 30. Maintenance of Stormwater Treatment Measures - Major

Stormwater treatment measures must be maintained at all times in accordance with the Stormwater Treatment Measure Operation and Maintenance Plan, manufacturer's specifications and as necessary to achieve the required stormwater quality targets for the development.

Vegetated stormwater treatment measures must maintain an 80 percent survival rate of plantings and limit weed cover to no more than 10 percent of the total area of the stormwater treatment measure.

Where replacement cartridges or other necessary components for the system become unavailable, an alternative system is required to be retrofitted into the development to achieve an equivalent pollutant reduction outcome. Evidence supporting the replacement must be retained on site and made available to Council as required.

Northern Beaches Council reserves the right to enter the property and carry out appropriate maintenance of the device at the cost of the property owner.

Reason: Protection of the receiving environment.

# **BEFORE ISSUE OF A SUBDIVISION CERTIFICATE**

# 31. Certification of Council Drainage Works and Works as Executed Data within Private Land

The Applicant shall submit a suitably qualified Civil Engineer's certification that the completed works have been constructed in accordance with this consent and the approved Section 68 approved plans. Works as Executed data (details overdrawn on a copy of the approved drainage plan) certified by a registered surveyor in relation to boundaries and/or relevant easements prepared in accordance with Council's 'Guideline for preparing Works



as Executed data for Council Stormwater Assets' within the subject site, shall be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To ensure compliance of drainage works with Council's specification for engineering works.

# 32. Certification of Civil Works and Works as Executed Data on Council Land

The Applicant shall submit a suitably qualified Civil Engineer's certification that the completed works have been constructed in accordance with this consent and the approved Subdivision Works Certificate application. Works as Executed data certified by a registered surveyor in relation to boundaries and/or relevant easements, shall be submitted to the Principal Certifier for approval prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To ensure compliance of engineering works.

#### 33. Positive Covenant for On-site Stormwater Detention

A positive covenant (under the provisions of Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act 1919) is to be created on the final plan of subdivision and accompanying 88B instrument, requiring the proprietor of the land to maintain the on-site stormwater detention structure in accordance with the standard requirements of Council. The terms of the positive covenant are to be prepared to Council's standard requirements, which are available from Northern Beaches Council.

Northern Beaches Council shall be nominated as the sole authority empowered to release, vary or modify such covenant.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate

Reason: To ensure ongoing maintenance of the on-site detention system.

## 34. Provision of Services for Subdivision

The applicant is to ensure all services including water, electricity, telephone and gas are provided, located and certified by a registered surveyor on a copy of the final plan of subdivision.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To ensure that utility services have been provided to the newly created lots.

# 35. Right of Carriageway

The Applicant shall create a right of carriageway (under the provisions of Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act) on the final plan of subdivision and accompanying 88B instrument, to include all vehicular access and manoeuvring areas.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: Council's subdivision standards and the statutory requirements of the Conveyancing Act 1919.



# 36. Restriction as to User (On-site Stormwater Detention)

The Applicant shall create a restriction as to user (under the provisions of Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act) on the final plan of subdivision and accompanying 88B instrument for the on-site stormwater detention system, restricting any alteration or additions to the system. The terms of such restriction are to be prepared to Council's standard requirements. Council shall be nominated as the party to release, vary or modify such restriction.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To ensure no modification to the on-site stormwater detention structure without Council's approval.

# 37. Certification of On-site Detention System (New Subdivision)

A Certificate is to be submitted by a qualified experienced practicing Civil Engineer with corporate membership of Engineers Australia, or who is eligible to become a Corporate member and has appropriate experience and competence in the related field confirming to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier that the on-site stormwater detention has been constructed in accordance with the plans nominated on the Development Consent and relevant conditions of Development Consent. The Subdivision Certificate will not be released until this certification has been submitted and the Principal Certifier has confirmed that this condition has been satisfied.

Reason: To ensure the On-site Detention System has been built to the appropriate standard.

#### 38. Sydney Water Compliance Certification

The Applicant shall submit a Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 issued by Sydney Water Corporation. Application must be made through an authorised Water Servicing Co-ordinator. Please refer to the Building Developing and Plumbing section of the web site www.sydneywater.com.au <a href="http://www.sydneywater.com.au">http://www.sydneywater.com.au</a> then refer to "Water Servicing Coordinator" under "Developing Your Land" or telephone 13 20 92 for assistance.

Following application a "Notice of Requirements" will advise of water and sewer infrastructure to be built and fees to be paid. Please make early contact with the coordinator, since building of water/sewer infrastructure can be time consuming and may impact on other services and building, driveway or landscape design.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To ensure compliance with the statutory requirements of Sydney Water.

# 39. **Easement for Drainage**

The Applicant shall create an easement for drainage (under the provisions of Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act) on the final plan of subdivision, to accompany the Section 88B instrument to ensure all drainage infrastructure is located within the appropriate easement(s).

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: Council's Subdivision standards and statutory requirements of the Conveyancing Act 1919.



#### 40. Easement for Services

The Applicant shall create an easement for services (under the provisions of Section 88B of the Conveyancing Act) on the final plan of subdivision, to accompany the Section 88B instrument to ensure all utility services are located within the appropriate easement(s).

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: Council's Subdivision standards and statutory requirements of the Conveyancing Act 1919.

#### 41. Release of Subdivision Certificate

The final plan of subdivision will not be issued by Council until the development has been completed in accordance with terms and conditions of the development consent.

Reason: Council's subdivision standards and the statutory requirements of the Conveyancing Act 1919.

# 42. Subdivision Certificate Application

The Applicant shall submit a Subdivision Certificate Application to Council, which is to include a completed Subdivision Certificate form and checklist, a final plan of subdivision prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Conveyancing Act 1919, four copies of the final plan of subdivision and all relevant documents including electronic copies. This documentation is to be submitted to Council prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate. All plans of survey are to show connections to at least two Survey Co-ordination Permanent Marks. The fee payable is to be in accordance with Council's fees and charges.

Reason: Statutory requirement of the Conveyancing Act 1919.

# 43. Positive Covenant, Restriction as to User and Registration of Encumbrances for Stormwater Treatment Measures

A positive covenant shall be created on the title of the land requiring the proprietor of the land to maintain the stormwater treatment measures in accordance with the standard requirements of Council, the manufacturer and as required by the Stormwater Treatment Measures Operation and Maintenance Plan.

A restriction as to user shall be created on the title over the stormwater treatment measures, restricting any alteration to the measures.

The terms of the positive covenant and restriction as to user are to be prepared to Council's standard requirements (available from Council) at the applicant's expense and endorsed by the Northern Beaches Council's delegate prior to lodgement with the Department of Lands.

Northern Beaches Council shall be nominated as the party to release, vary or modify such covenant.

A copy of the certificate of title demonstrating the creation of the positive covenant and restriction as to user is to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To identify encumbrances on land, ensure ongoing maintenance, and ensure modification to the stormwater treatment measures is not carried out without Council's approval.



# 44. Stormwater Treatment Measures Operation and Maintenance Plan

An Operation and Maintenance Plan is to be prepared to ensure the proposed stormwater treatment measures remain effective.

The Plan must be attached to the Positive Covenant (and the community or strata management statement if applicable) and contain the following:

- 1. Detail on the stormwater treatment measures:
  - a) Work as executed drawings
  - b) Intent of the stormwater treatment measures including modelled pollutant removal rates
  - c) Site detail showing catchment for each device
  - Vegetation species list associated with each type of vegetated stormwater treatment measure
  - e) Impervious area restrictions to maintain the water balance for the site
  - f) Funding arrangements for the maintenance of all stormwater treatment measures
  - g) Identification of maintenance and management responsibilities
  - h) Maintenance and emergency contact information
- 2. Maintenance schedule and procedure establishment period of one year following commissioning of the stormwater treatment measure:
  - a) Activity description, and duration and frequency of visits

# Additionally for vegetated devices:

- b) Monitoring and assessment to achieve an 80 percent survival rate for plantings
- Management of weeds, pests and erosion, with weed and sediment cover limited to a maximum of 5 percent of the total area of the stormwater treatment measure
- 3. Maintenance schedule and procedure ongoing
  - a) Activity description, and duration and frequency of visits
  - b) Routine maintenance requirements
  - c) Work Health and Safety requirements
  - d) Waste management and disposal
  - e) Traffic control (if required)
  - Renewal, decommissioning and replacement timelines and activities of all stormwater treatment measures (please note that a DA may be required if an alternative stormwater treatment measure is proposed)
  - g) Requirements for inspection and maintenance records, noting that these records are required to be maintained and made available to Council upon request.

Details demonstrating compliance shall be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the release of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: Protection of the receiving environment.

## 45. Certification of Stormwater Treatment Measures (New Subdivision)

A Certificate is to be submitted by a qualified experienced practicing Civil Engineer with corporate membership of Engineers Australia, or who is eligible to become a Corporate member and has appropriate experience and competence in the related field confirming to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier that the water quality system has been constructed in accordance with the plans/reports nominated on the Development Consent and relevant conditions of Development Consent. The Subdivision Certificate will not be released until this certification has been submitted and the Principal Certifier has confirmed that this condition has been satisfied.



Reason: To ensure the On-site Detention System has been built to the appropriate standard.

#### 46. Title Encumbrances

The Applicant shall ensure all easements, rights of carriageway, positive covenants and restrictions as to user as detailed on the plans and required by the development consent are to be created on the title naming Council as the sole authority empowered to release or modify.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To ensure proper management of land.

# 47. Restriction on Building Envelopes for Lots 2 and 4

A Section 88B Restriction as to User is to be registered on Lots 2 and 4 which restricts the building envelope for a future dwelling-house on these lots in accordance with the Site Plans and Ground Floor Plans by JJ Drafting, numbered Lot 2\_D01 & D02, Rev A, dated 7.8.2023, and Lot 4\_DA01 & DA02, Rev A, dated 7.8.2023.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To ensure future development of constrained lots is restricted to protect significant trees and residential amenity.

# 48. Future Access to Lots 3 and 4

A positive covenant is to be registered on the title of Lots 3 and 4 to ensure all future demolition, construction and ongoing resident and service vehicle, and pedestrian access to Lots 3 and 4 is obtained solely from Lakeview Parade using the right of carriageway over Lots 1 and 2.

Details demonstrating compliance are to be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of the Subdivision Certificate.

Reason: To ensure future access is fully contained within the approved development.

Vote: 3/0

# MINUTES OF DEVELOPMENT DETERMINATION PANEL MEETING



23 AUGUST 2023

This is the final page of the Minutes comprising 28 pages numbered 1 to 28 of the Development Determination Panel meeting held on Wednesday 23 August 2023.